MMR vaccination and autism: no indication for an association

Horizon scanning report



To the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport



Subject: presentation of Horizon scanning report MMR vaccination and autism:
no indication for an associationOur reference: U-1506/KG/cn/469-K3Enclosure(s): 1Date: January 25, 2007

Dear Minister,

Enclosed please find the report *MMR vaccination and autism: no indication for an association*, presented by the Committee of the Health Council of the Netherlands on Side Effects of Vaccinations. The Committee was assisted in its deliberations by Prof. J.K. Buitelaar, professor of Psychiatry at the St Radboud University Medical Centre in Nijmegen. The document was reviewed by the Standing Committees on Medicine and Infection & Immunity of the Health Council.

The reason for reviewing a possible link between MMR vaccination and autism was the concern raised a number of years ago by a publication in the medical journal The Lancet, in which the English gastroenterologist Andrew Wakefield and other authors suggested the existence of a link between MMR vaccination and autism.

In preparation of this report, the scientific studies performed in response to this publication have been reviewed by the Committee. The Committee's main conclusion is that it has not found any evidence that MMR vaccination causes, promotes or exacerbates autism. I agree with this conclusion of the Committee.

In this report, the Committee only discusses autism to the extent required for its study of the relevant scientific literature. The topic of autism in a wider sense is covered in a separate report.

Yours sincerely, (signed) Professor M. de Visser Vice President

P.O.Box 16052 NL-2500 BB The Hague Telephone +31 (70) 340 56 88 Telefax +31 (70) 340 75 23 E-mail: k.groeneveld@gr.nl Visiting Address Parnassusplein 5 NL-2511 VX The Hague The Netherlands www.healthcouncil.nl

MMR vaccination and autism: no indication for an association

Horizon scanning report

to:

the Minister of Health, Welfare and Sport

No. 2007/04E, The Hague, January 25, 2011

The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues and health (services) research..." (Section 22, Health Act).

The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare & Sport, Infrastructure & the Environment, Social Affairs & Employment, Economic Affairs, Agriculture & Innovation, and Education, Culture & Science. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to government policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the European Science Advisory Network for Health (EuSANH), a network of science advisory bodies in Europe.



The Health Council of the Netherlands is a member of the International Network of Agencies for Health Technology Assessment (INAHTA), an international collaboration of organisations engaged with *health technology assessment*.

This report can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. MMR vaccination and autism: no indication for an association. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2007; publication no. 2007/04E.

all rights reserved

ISBN: 978-90-5549-837-6

Contents

	Executive summary 7
1	Introduction 9
1.1	Background to this report 9
1.2	Structure of this report 10
2	Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD) 11
2.1	Characteristics 11
2.2	Definitions 11
2.3	Prevalence 12
2.4	Cause 12
3	Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism 13
3.1	First publication 13
3.2	Further investigation 14
3.3	Developments after the first publication 22
4	Conclusion 23
4.1	Conclusion concerning a possible link 23
4.2	Conclusion concerning the importance of vaccination 25

Contents

Annex 32 A The Committee 33

6

Annual report on screening for disease 2007

Executive summary

In the Netherlands, all children above the age of 14 months are vaccinated against mumps, measles and rubella (or German measles). This is the so-called MMR vaccination. This approach prevents numerous cases of these diseases in children every year. There is widespread acceptance of this inoculation.

Nevertheless, over the past few years, there has been some disquiet about possible adverse effects. It all started in 1998, with the publication of an article by the British gastroenterologist Andrew Wakefield and co-workers, in the medical journal *The Lancet*. In this article, they described the cases of twelve children with behavioural problems, eight of whom were ultimately diagnosed as suffering from 'autism'. Some of these children's parents or GPs link the onset of their behavioural problems to the MMR vaccination. Following the publication of the article in *The Lancet*, there was a sharp increase in scientific research into a link between the MMR vaccination and the development of autism.

What is the current level of scientific knowledge regarding a possible link between the MMR vaccination and autism? How likely is it that any such link exists, given the available scientific knowledge? These questions are addressed here.

In this horizon scanning report, the Health Council of the Netherlands' Committee on adverse reactions following vaccinations under the National Immunisation Programme lists the results of these follow-up studies. It does so by testing the

Executive summary

publications in question (which involved in some cases very large groups of children from Denmark, Finland, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States).

The Committee's findings are that autism does not occur more frequently among individuals who have had an MMR vaccination, and that the increase in the MMR vaccination level cannot be linked to an increase in autism. It also found that there is no temporal link between the development of autism and administration of the MMR vaccination, nor is the MMR vaccination associated with a novel form of autism. The Committee has found no evidence that the MMR vaccination either causes, promotes or aggravates autism. In the Committee's view, the hypotheses concerning the biological mechanism underpinning the alleged link between MMR vaccination and autism are purely theoretical in nature.

Finally, the Committee would like to emphasise the importance of the MMR vaccination. A decline in the vaccination level in the Netherlands, as a result of the disquiet about alleged adverse effects for example, could lead to an increase in mumps, measles, or rubella. The associated disease and mortality could be prevented by administering the vaccination.

Executive summary

Introduction

1.1 Background to this report

Once they are over 14 months old, all children in the Netherlands are vaccinated against measles, mumps and rubella (or German measles), using a combined MMR vaccine that has been part of the Dutch National Immunisation Programme since 1987.¹ This vaccination prevents numerous cases of these diseases in children every year, and is widely accepted by the Dutch population.

Nevertheless, in recent years, there has been some concern about the onset of autism as a possible side effect. This started with the publication of an article in the English medical journal *The Lancet* in 1998, in which the British gastroenterologist Andrew Wakefield described the cases of twelve children with behavioural problems, some of whom were ultimately diagnosed as autistic.² Some of these children's parents of GPs linked the onset of the behavioural problems to the MMR vaccination. The publication in The Lancet led to a marked increase in the scientific investigation of a possible link between MMR vaccination and autism.

These developments led the Committee on Side Effects of Vaccinations, one of the permanent Committees of the Health Council of the Netherlands, to study this topic.

Introduction

Until recently, the main task of the Committee was to review the data collected by the Dutch National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (Dutch abbreviation RIVM) and to assess reports of suspected side effects of vaccinations carried out within the framework of the Dutch National Immunisation Programme. The Committee has produced a number of reports on this topic of recent years.^{3,4}

Another, more recent task is to closely monitor the latest scientific knowledge on suspected side effects of vaccinations. The present report is the first fruit of this branch of the Committee's activities. In Annex A the members of the Committee are named.

1.2 Structure of this report

The report consists of three chapters, each dealing with a specific question:

- 1 What clinical pictures are covered by the term 'autism'?
- 2 What is the current state of scientific knowledge about a possible link between MMR vaccination and autism?
- 3 What is the Committee's assessment of the likelihood of the existence of a link between MMR vaccination and autism?

Introduction

Chapter

2

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD)

2.1 Characteristics

Children with autism spectrum disorders (also known as pervasive developmental disorders) are characterised by qualitative impairments of social interaction and communication and by stereotypical patterns of behaviour, interest and activity.⁵ The following types of ASD, among others, may be distinguished on the basis of these characteristics and other criteria: classical autism, Asperger syndrome and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS), which is also known as atypical autism.

The diagnosis of a specific autism spectrum disorder in children may be made on the basis of the criteria laid down by the World Health Organisation (WHO) or the American Psychiatric Association (APA).^{6,7}

2.2 Definitions

The scientific literature on studies of a possible link between vaccination and autism uses different definitions of the clinical pictures involved, which do not always agree with those of the WHO or the APA. Nearly all authors use the diagnosis 'autistic disorder' and the term 'autistic spectrum disorder' as a collective name for all autistic conditions.

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD)

In its description of the various studies of a possible link between MMR vaccination and autism, the Committee adopts the terms used by the authors in question. When weighing the results it uses the widely recognised term 'autism' as a collective name for all the conditions involved, in preference to the term 'autistic spectrum disorders' or 'pervasive developmental disorders'.

2.3 Prevalence

The prevalence of autism is difficult to determine. Older studies yield a lower prevalence than more recent ones. It is not clear, however, whether this increase in the number of children reported with autism reflects a real increase in the prevalence.^{5,8,9} Firstly, the definitions of autism and the conditions falling under this common denominator have changed in the course of time and have expanded – especially in the case of the milder conditions – thus leading to growth of the overall patient group.^{8,9} There are also indications that improved diagnostic methods have led to an increase in the number of patients reported.⁹ Furthermore, the prevalence of the individual clinical pictures reported in the more recent publications varies widely.¹⁰⁻¹³

Several authors state that an incidence of from three to six children per thousand is the most likely.^{14,15}

2.4 Cause

Autism is the collective name of a range of clinical pictures whose definition is based on abnormal behavioural patterns. No clearly defined cause can be identified. Genetic factors probably play the main role in the development of autism, but environmental influences cannot be excluded.^{5,16}

Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD)

Chapter

3

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

3.1 First publication

In 1998, Andrew Wakefield *et al.* published a description of twelve children with behavioural problems and chronic colitis in the English medical journal *The Lancet.*² The parents or the GP of six of the eight children ultimately diagnosed with autism perceived a link between the onset of the behavioural problems and the MMR vaccination. The same link was stated to be present in the case of the child with autism as the likely diagnosis, and of the child with the postulated diagnosis of post-vaccinal encephalopathy.

The behavioural problems were reported to have started from one to fourteen days after the MMR vaccination, with an average delay of 6.3 days, and were preceded by colitis. The authors suggested that the mechanism responsible for their findings might be the development of colitis due to the vaccination, leading to enhanced intestinal permeability for proteins. These proteins could then have an effect on the brain, leading to behavioural changes. Previous publications by Wakefield reported the presence of fragments of the measles virus in patients with chronic colitis.^{17,18}

In a commentary accompanying the article by Wakefield *et al.*, Chen and DeStefano from the Centers for Disease Control in the United States stated that initial reports of side effects of vaccinations should always be taken very

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

seriously, since vaccination programmes usually cover very large numbers of healthy young children.¹⁹

However, the study by Wakefield *et al.* also met with criticism. A general comment was that the measles vaccine has been administered to hundreds of millions of people since the 1960s without the development of behavioural problems and/or colitis. Another general criticism was that the results of studies of this type can be influenced by the fact that the age at which the vaccinations are given is also the age at which autism usually manifests itself.

There was also specific criticism of details of the study by Wakefield *et al.*¹⁹ Chen and DeStefano stated that their patient group was not homogeneous as regards the nature of the colitis and the behavioural problems, and believed that this group was recruited in a selective manner. They also stated that one cannot exclude the possibility that in the case of a complaint like autism, where the moment when the condition first manifests itself is difficult to pinpoint exactly, the parents and the GP may tend to link the first signs of the condition to an unusual event, such as vaccination. Chen and DeStefano claim that at least in some of the reported cases, the behavioural problems actually preceded the colitis, thus supporting this possible explanation for a perceived link.

Finally, Chen and DeStefano queried the mechanism responsible for the effect proposed by Wakefield *et al.*, since various other investigations of the presence of fragments of the measles virus in patients with chronic colitis, where more sensitive detection methods were used than those employed by Wakefield *et al.*, found no evidence that the virus played a role.²⁰⁻²² These findings have very recently been confirmed in studies of the persistence of the measles virus in the white blood cells of children with autism.^{23,24} An epidemiological investigation of a possible link between measles, or vaccination against this disease, and the development of chronic colitis also failed to reveal any connection.^{25,26}

3.2 Further investigation

The article of Wakefield *et al.* has unleashed a whole series of studies of the possible link between vaccination (in particular MMR vaccination) and the development of autism. The Committee reviews the results of these further studies below. The studies are arranged on the basis of the four hypotheses initially used for this purpose by Wilson *et al.*²⁷ These hypotheses are:

- 1 Autism occurs more often in individuals who have been given the MMR vaccine
- 2 The increase in the level of MMR vaccination leads to an increase in autism

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

- 3 There is a temporal relationship between the development of autism and administration of the MMR vaccine
- 4 MMR vaccination is associated with a new form of autism.

Hypothesis 1: autism occurs more often in individuals who have been given the MMR vaccine

This is the most obvious of the four hypotheses considered. It is however difficult to test, since large study groups are required for this purpose, and vaccination coverage is so high in most Western countries that it is difficult to find enough unvaccinated children to use as controls.

The Committee is only aware of one study of sufficient size in this category. Madsen and co-workers investigated all children born in Denmark between 1991 and 1998.²⁸ Of the 537 303 children in question, 82 per cent (440 655 children) had been given MMR vaccination. Three hundred and sixteen children were diagnosed with 'autistic disorder', and 422 with 'other autistic spectrum disorders'. The relative risk of autistic disorder among the vaccinated children as compared with the unvaccinated children was close to unity, the value found being 0.92 (with a 95% confidence interval of 0.68-1.24). The relative risk of other autistic spectrum disorders was 0.83 (95% confidence interval 0.65-1.07). The authors concluded that the results argued against a link between vaccination and autism.

Passive registration systems in which reports of the suspected and corroborated side effects of vaccinations are collected and assessed could also be used as a source of data for testing the hypothesis that autism occurs more often in individuals who have been given the MMR vaccine. However, such systems are considered to be less useful for this purpose than studies like that of Madsen *et al.*, because of the lack of control groups.²⁸ Nevertheless, data from registration systems can give an indication of the existence of side effects.

One such system, to be found in the United States, is the Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS).²⁹ A Committee of the American Institute of Medicine has studied a number of reports from VAERS concerning the occurrence of autism after vaccination.³⁰ The Committee concluded that these reports cannot be used as a basis for statements about a possible causal link between MMR vaccination and autism, since systems like VAERS have a number of limitations such as underreporting and a lack of detail in the reports.^{29,31}

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

In the United Kingdom, a working group of the Medicines Control Agency reviewed 111 reports of autism as a suspected side effect of MMR vaccination.³² It concluded that the available evidence does not support the idea of a causal link between MMR vaccination and autism, but commented that the limitations of the case reports made a more definitive assessment impossible.

In Finland, all reports of suspected and corroborated side effects of MMR vaccination have been collected during the first 14 years after the introduction of this type of vaccination (with a total of 1.8 million vaccinated children), and blood samples have been taken for further analysis from the children with complaints.³³ In total, 173 reports of suspected or corroborated serious side effects have been collected. None of these concerned children with autism.

In the Netherlands, reports of suspected and corroborated side effects of vaccinations performed in the framework of the national vaccination programme, are recorded and assessed by the RIVM, which produces an annual report on these data. The RIVM reports for the years from 1996 up to and including 2004 mention a total of fifteen cases of children with an autistic spectrum disorder.³⁴⁻⁴¹ In the opinion of the RIVM, none of these disorders was caused or exacerbated by the MMR or other vaccination; in a number of cases, the first signs of the disorders were observed in the children before the vaccination had been given. The Committee reviewed a number of these reports in the framework of its task of reassessing the reports of side effects, and came to the same conclusion as the RIVM.⁴

Hypothesis 2: the increase in the level of MMR vaccination leads to an increase in autism

Most of the studies aimed at testing the second hypothesis made use of time series, in which the percentage of vaccinated children was presented alongside the corresponding incidence of autism as a function of time. In some of the studies described, it was actually possible to link the data on vaccination and autism at an individual level.

Dales and co-workers studied groups of young schoolchildren in the United States.⁴² They determined the percentage of children who received MMR vaccination and the percentage treated for an autistic disorder, both as functions of the year of birth. The percentage of vaccinated children was 72 per cent in the 1980 birth cohort and 82 per cent in the 1994 birth cohort, a relative increase of 14 per

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

cent. The corresponding number of children with an autistic disorder rose from 44 per 100 000 live births to 208 per 100 000 live births, a relative increase of 373 per cent. Although it was not possible to link the individual data on vaccination and autism in this case, the authors nevertheless concluded that the very large difference between the relative increases in MMR vaccination on the one hand and autism on the other did not support a link between these variables.

Kaye and co-workers published the results of a similar study that was carried out in the United Kingdom.⁴³ They used data from the UK General Practice Research Database and compared the percentage of children receiving MMR vaccination with the incidence of newly diagnosed autistic disorders. This incidence rose between 1988 and 1999 for the study group as a whole from 0.3 per 10 000 person years to 2.1 per 10 000 person years. The incidence in boys aged between two and five years (the group in which previous research found the increase in autistic disorders to be the greatest) rose from 8 per 10 000 for the 1988 birth cohort to 29 per 10 000 for the 1993 birth cohort. The percentage of children receiving the MMR vaccination remained above 95 per cent throughout the entire study period. If the MMR vaccination had been responsible for the increase in autistic disorders, this increase would have levelled off in the years following the introduction of MMR vaccination. Since this effect was not observed, the authors concluded that no correlation exists between MMR vaccination and autism.

Smeeth and co-workers also used data from the UK General Practice Research Database.⁴⁴ In their matched case-control study they matched 1294 patients in whom autism had been diagnosed with 4469 controls by age, sex and GP practice. They found the odds ratio (a measure of the relative risk) for a link between MMR vaccination and autism to be 0.86 (95% confidence interval 0.68-1.09), and concluded on this basis that MMR vaccination is not associated with an increased risk of autism.

Taylor and co-workers studied the possible effects of MMR vaccination on 498 children with autism who were born in eight health districts of northeast London in the period from 1979 to 1992.⁴⁵ They were able to link the individual data on diagnosis and vaccination, subsequently performing a number of different analyses, the first of which is discussed here (another one will be reported in connection with hypothesis 3). Their analysis revealed that the incidence of autistic disorder and atypical autism increased steadily in the period from 1979 to 1992,

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

and that the introduction of MMR vaccination in 1988 did not lead to a sudden rise in the rate of increase.

Chen and co-workers carried out a widely based study of the possible link between autism and exposure to measles or various forms of vaccination against measles.46 They also found that the introduction of monovalent measles vaccine was not associated with a stepwise increase in the incidence of autism, and that the introduction of the MMR vaccine or a change in the measles component of this vaccine did not lead to a change either.

The most recent study of a possible link between MMR vaccination and autism in groups of children is that of Honda and co-workers.⁴⁷ The special feature of this study is that it was carried out in a population of children that showed a sharp drop in the vaccination level: these children no longer received MMR vaccination, because of the supposed side effects of this intervention. After MMR vaccination was stopped in the Japanese city of Yokohama, the vaccination level dropped from about seventy per cent in the 1988 birth cohort to less than two per cent in the 1992 cohort. The incidence of autistic spectrum disorders rose from 47.6 per 10 000 to 85.9 per 10 000 in the same period, and continued to rise in the period from 1993 to 1996.

Hypothesis 3: there is a temporal relationship between the development of autism and the administration of MMR vaccine

The studies described above that were performed to test hypothesis 2 showed that no association could be found between the increase in autism and the introduction of MMR vaccination in the groups investigated. This cannot however be seen as a definite proof that there is no link between the two. There could be a link between MMR vaccination and autism even in the absence of a rise in the incidence, if MMR vaccination was found to speed up the development of autism in individuals who are predisposed to develop this condition. Two questions can be asked in this connection. Firstly, 'Is the age at which autism is diagnosed or at which parents first express concern about possible autism different in vaccinated children with autism than in unvaccinated children with autism?'. And secondly, 'Does MMR vaccination lead to clustering of the moments at which autism is diagnosed, or of events that could be associated with this diagnosis?'.

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

Investigation of the age at which autism is diagnosed or concerns are first expressed

Fombonne and Chakrabarti compared the age of various groups of children with autism at which parents first expressed concern about signs that could be seen as an indication of this condition.⁴⁸ They did not find any difference between the age in two groups of vaccinated children and that in a group of children who had grown up before routine MMR vaccination had been introduced.

Investigation of clustering after vaccination

In a study of neurological disorders after MMR vaccination, Makela and coworkers investigated the association between data on hospital admissions and data on vaccination in a large group of Finnish children (535 441 children, vaccinated in the period 1982-1986).⁴⁹ Three hundred and fifty-two of these children were diagnosed with autism. No clustering of hospital admissions for autism after MMR vaccination was found in this study group.

Studies of both questions

The authors of the above-mentioned study of all children born in Denmark between 1991 and 1998, also investigated the age at which concerns were first expressed or a diagnosis was given and possible clustering.²⁸ The age distribution of vaccinated children at the time they were diagnosed with autism did not differ from that of the unvaccinated children.²⁸ Furthermore, the moment of diagnosis showed no clustering in time in the vaccinated children as compared with the unvaccinated children.

The study of Taylor and co-workers in eight health districts in northeast London mentioned above in connection with the trials of hypothesis 2 also considers the two questions that are relevant for considering hypothesis 3.45 In order to investigate the moment at which concern was first expressed, the children with an autistic disorder or atypical autism were divided into three groups: children who were vaccinated before the age of 18 months (a total of 233 children), children vaccinated after the age of 18 months (a total of 59) and unvaccinated children (a total of 64). The results showed that early or late administration of the MMR vaccine did not influence the age at which autistic disorder or atypical autism was diagnosed.⁴⁵

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

In order to detect possible clustering, the researchers used a case series approach to analyse the time when the autism manifested itself, this time being measured in different ways: as the moment of diagnosis, as the moment when the parents first expressed concern about their child's condition, or as the onset of behavioural regression in various periods after MMR vaccination. According to Wakefield *et al.* (who were the first to suggest a link between MMR vaccination and autism), this regression forms part of a special form of autism which they claim to be associated with the MMR vaccination (see hypothesis 4).

Of the twelve periods investigated in the study by Taylor and co-workers, however, the period up to six months after vaccination is the only one where clustering is found – namely clustering of the first expression of concern by the parents. According to the authors, this clustering is due to the combination of a peak in MMR vaccinations around the age of 13 months and a peak – not in itself related to the vaccination – in the first expression of concern about autism by the parents round about the time when the child is 18 months old. The authors concluded that their analyses did not support the existence of a link between MMR vaccination and autism.

The study by Taylor and co-workers was criticised from various perspectives. It was argued, for example, that the use of the case series approach was not appropriate in this investigation, as this approach is more suitable for the study of acute effects than for the study of conditions that develop more slowly, such as autism.⁵⁰⁻⁵² The authors refuted this criticism in their response.^{53,54} They showed in a subsequent publication that even if the data are analysed in another way, the results still do not support the existence of a link between MMR vaccination and autism.⁵⁵

A second point of criticism was the suggestion that the clustering of the first expression of concern by the parents in the period up to six months after the vaccination could have been an artifact.⁵¹ The discussion triggered by this suggestion led to further investigation and to a publication by DeWilde and coworkers.⁵⁶ This was based on the hypothesis that if MMR vaccination led in the short term to behavioural problems and eventually to autism – as claimed by Wakefield and co-workers² – this should be reflected in an increasing number of visits to the GP in the period after vaccination.

This hypothesis was tested with the aid of data taken from the Doctor's Independent Network, a database containing data from GP practices that use a certain

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

software package. The frequency of visits to the GP by 71 patients ultimately diagnosed with autism was compared with that of 284 controls, matched by age, sex, month of vaccination and GP. It was found that the frequency of visits to the GP by the patients with autism in the periods 60 or 180 days before or after vaccination did not differ from that of the controls.

To provide a check on this finding, the researchers also examined the frequency of visits to the GP by the patients who were finally diagnosed with autism during the last 60 and 180 days before the diagnosis, and compared this with the frequency of visits to the GP by the controls during a comparable period. It was found that the patients who ultimately developed autism did visit the GP more often in this period. Autism thus led to an increased frequency of visits to the GP, but MMR vaccination did not.

The authors concluded that it is unlikely that MMR vaccination has any effect on behaviour, but that Taylor and co-workers were right about the clustering of the first expression of concern.⁵⁶

Hypothesis 4: MMR vaccination is associated with a new form of autism

The Immunization Safety Review Committee of the American Institute of Medicine launched a study of the possible existence of a link between vaccination and autism in 2000. This study was concluded in 2001 with a lengthy report.³⁰ The activities of the Committee included a series of interviews with experts, including Wakefield.

According to Wakefield, the epidemiological studies carried out up to that point had not found any link between vaccination and autism because the researchers had not considered the form of autism linked with MMR vaccination but had used the standard definition of autism – which was not applicable in this case. He claimed that MMR vaccination was linked with a special form of autism, consisting of a combination of behavioural problems and colitis, associated with developmental regression.

This testimony of Wakefield led once again to a series of investigations, now focused on the occurrence of colitis and autism, with or without associated developmental regression, and the possible link with MMR vaccination. It may be mentioned that this topic had already been the subject of a study⁵⁷ published in 1998 after the original article by Wakefield and co-workers from 1996. In this

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

study, Peltola and co-workers selected data on 31 children with colitis after MMR vaccination from the above-mentioned Finnish surveillance system.⁵⁷ None of these children developed autism. A second analysis of data from the same system revealed that none of the 352 children diagnosed with autism had been admitted to hospital for colitis.⁴⁹

Fombonne and Chakrabarti likewise showed that the percentage of autistic children with developmental regression was not changed by the introduction of MMR vaccination.⁴⁸ They found no link between developmental regression and the occurrence of colitis in the children with autism.

In a study of the period from 1979 to 1998, Taylor and co-workers concluded that the percentage of children with an autistic syndrome combined with colitis or combined with developmental regression was not changed by the introduction of MMR vaccination in 1988.⁵⁸ This means that the occurrence of colitis or developmental regression in children with an autistic syndrome was not linked with the MMR vaccination.

Black and co-workers selected a group of vaccinated children with an autistic syndrome and a control group from the UK General Practice Research Database, and examined the occurrence of colitis in the period preceding the diagnosis of autistic syndrome. The control group was examined over a comparable period. The odds ratio for colitis in children with autism compared with the controls was found to be 1.0 (95% confidence interval 0.5-2.2).⁵⁹ The authors concluded that children later diagnosed with autistic syndrome did not show more colitis than other children.

3.3 Developments after the first publication

In March 2004, various announcements relating to the publication by Wakefield and his eleven co-workers appeared in the Lancet.⁶⁰⁻⁶³

Ten of the twelve authors published a *retraction of an interpretation*, in which they stated that while the original publication did not prove a causal relationship between MMR vaccination and autism, it did suggest the possibility of such a relationship. In the light of the many subsequent developments, the authors now jointly retracted their original interpretation of the findings.⁶⁰

Investigation of the link between vaccination and autism

<u>Chapter</u> 4 Conclusion

4.1 Conclusion concerning a possible link

The first publication by Wakefield and others about 12 children with behavioural problems and colitis, in which a link with MMR vaccination was suggested², led to many further studies. A variety of publications appeared in the succeeding years, ranging from case studies to reports of controlled observational investigations of children – sometimes comprising very large groups – from Denmark, Finland, Japan, the United Kingdom and the United States. The publications are summarised in Table 1. None of these studies found a link between MMR vaccination and autism. A particularly striking investigation was that of Honda and co-workers, who found a rise in the incidence of autism even when the vaccination level fell sharply.⁴⁷

The Committee was unable to find any evidence that MMR vaccination causes, promotes or exacerbates autism. This is in line with the conclusion drawn previously by the WHO and the Institute of Medicine in the United States that there is no evidence of a link between MMR vaccination and autism.^{30,64,65}

According to the Institute of Medicine, the hypotheses about the biological mechanism underlying the suggested relationship between MMR vaccination and autism are merely theoretical.⁶⁵ The Committee agrees with this conclusion.

Conclusion

Publication	Type of study	Study population	Results
- 1	0	ten in individuals who have been given the MMR	
Madsen ²⁸	retrospective cohort study	316 patients with autistic disorder and 422 patients with autistic spectrum disorders from a group of 537 303 children in Denmark	relative risk of autistic disorder 0.92 (0.68-1.24), relative risk of autistic spectrum disorders 0.83 (0.65-1.07)
Hypothesis 2: th	e increase in the leve	el of MMR vaccination leads to an increase in aut	ism
Smeeth ⁴⁴	matched case con- trol	1294 patients with autism and 4469 controls (UK General Practice Research Database)	odds ratio MMR vaccination and autism 0.86 (0.68 – 1.09).
Dales ⁴²	observational; time series	Cohorts of schoolchildren in USA, born from 1980 to 1994; 600-1900 children per annum	relative increase in vaccination level 14%; relative increase in autistic disor der 373%
Kaye ⁴³	observational; time series	Incidence of autism in children up to 12 years old, born from 1988 to 1999 (UK General Practice Research Database)	incidence of autistic disorder rose from 0.3 to 2.1 per 10 000 person years, vac cination level at least 95% throughout entire period
Taylor ⁴⁵	observational; time series	498 patients with autistic disorder or atypical autism born from 1979 to 1992 in 8 health districts in London	constant increase in incidence of autis tic disorder and atypical autism, not influenced by introduction of MMR vaccine in 1988
Chen ⁴⁶	observational; time series	2407 patients with autistic disorder in United Kingdom, born from 1959 to 1993	constant increase in incidence of autis tic disorder, not influenced by introduc tion of MMR vaccine in 1988
Honda ⁴⁷	observational; time series	31 426 children born from 1988 to 1996 in Yokohama, Japan	incidence of autism rose while MMR vaccination level fell
Hypothesis 3: th	ere is a temporal rela	ationship between the development of autism and	the administration of MMR vaccine
DeWilde ⁵⁶	case control	71 children with autism and 284 controls from United Kingdom	frequency of visits to GP by children ultimately diagnosed with autism in periods round vaccination did not diffe from that of controls
Fombonne ⁴⁸	case control	3 groups of children with autism from United Kingdom; 2 MMR vaccinated (n=96, n=68), 1 not vaccinated (n=98)	no difference between age of three groups at which parents first expressed concern about autism; no link between developmental regression and occurrence of colitis
Makela ⁴⁹	retrospective case series	352 patients with autism, from group of 535 544 vaccinated children in Finland	no clustering in time of hospital admissions for autism after vaccination
Madsen ²⁸	retrospective cohort study	316 patients with autistic disorder and 422 patients with autistic spectrum disorders from group of 537 303 children in Denmark	no difference between age of vaccinated and unvaccinated children at time of diagnosis; no clustering of diagnosis time after vaccination
Taylor ⁴⁵	observational; time series	498 patients with autistic disorder of atypical autism born from 1979 to 1992 in 8 health dis- tricts in London, United Kingdom	no difference between age of vaccinated and unvaccinated children at time of diagnosis; clustering of first expression of concern by parents found in 1 of the 12 post-vaccination periods studied

Table 1 Studies of the possible link between MMR vaccination and autism, arranged according to the hypothesis tested.

Conclusion

Hypothesis 4: MMR vaccination is associated with a new form of autism

Black ⁵⁹	case control study	96 patients with autism and 449 controls from UK General Practice Research Database, United Kingdom	
Taylor ⁵⁸	population study	473 patients with autistic disorder or atypical autism, born from 1979 to 1998 in 5 health districts in London, United Kingdom	percentage of autistic children with colitis or developmental regression showed no change with time
Peltola ⁵⁷	retrospective case series	31 patients with colitis, from group of 535 544 vaccinated children in Finland	no patient with colitis became autistic
Makela ⁴⁹	retrospective case series	352 patients with autism, from group of 535 544 vaccinated children in Finland	no patient with autism had colitis

4.2 Conclusion concerning the importance of vaccination

The national average percentage of Dutch children who have received MMR vaccinations has been above 95 per cent for years.⁶⁶ It may be noted, however, that this percentage shows appreciable variations from one municipality to another and that epidemics have occurred of recent years in people who have not been vaccinated.

In a previous report, the Committee referred to an epidemic of measles among unvaccinated people in the Netherlands in 1999 en 2000.^{3,67} Ninety-four per cent of the patients with measles had not been vaccinated, and 157 of the 158 vaccinated patients had not received the second dose of vaccine (in some cases, they would have been due to receive it in the future). There were three fatalities as a result of the epidemic, and 72 patients were admitted to hospital.

In 2004 and 2005, the Netherlands saw outbreaks of rubella.⁶⁸ This disease usually has a fairly benign course in children, but infection during pregnancy can lead to abortion, congenital defects or serious disease in the newborn child.¹ The vast majority of the 387 patients had not been vaccinated. Thirty-two infections were reported during pregnancy, leading to 15 congenital rubella infections.68

In their comments accompanying the first article by Wakefield *et al.*, Chen and DeStefano warned that this publication could lead to a drop in the vaccination level.¹⁹ Such a drop could then lead to a rise in the incidence of the disease the vaccination was designed to protect against.

The Committee would like to stress the importance of this warning, which is borne out by the fact that such effects have already been observed several times.

Conclusion

For example, a publication on the side effects of vaccination against whooping cough in the 1970s was followed by a drop in the vaccination level against whooping cough in the United Kingdom, and a rise in the number of patients.⁶⁹ The vaccination level against whooping cough also fell strongly in other countries, causing the incidence to be a hundred times higher than in the countries where this drop in the vaccination level was not observed.⁷⁰

Outbreaks of measles have been occurring to an increasing extent in the United Kingdom of recent years, also linked to a low vaccination level.⁷¹ In Japan, concern about the safety of vaccination against measles and the resulting strong drop in vaccination level of recent years have led to more than 100 000 cases of measles per annum, with an estimated number of fatalities of between fifty and a hundred.⁷²

A drop in the vaccination level in the Netherlands would also lead to an increase in mumps, measles or rubella here, and hence to increased morbidity and mortality that could have been prevented by vaccination.

Conclusion

1	Rijksvaccinatieprogramma. 2006. Internet: http://www.rivm.nl/preventie/vaccinatie/
	Rijksvaccinatieprogramma/Rijksvaccinatieprogramma.jsp.
2	Wakefield AJ, Murch SH, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson DM, Malik M et.al. Ileal-lymphoid-nodular
	hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. Lancet 1998;
	351: 637-41.
3	Health Council of the Netherlands. Committee on adverse reactions to vaccinations in the national
	immunization programme. Adverse reactions to vaccinations in the national immunization
	programme 1997-2001. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands; 2002: publication no.
	2002/16 (in Dutch).
4	Health Council of the Netherlands. Committee on adverse reactions to vaccinations in the national
	immunization programme. Adverse reactions to vaccinations in the national immunization
	programme 2002-2003. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands; 2006: publication no.
	2006/14 (in Dutch).
5	Volkmar FR, Pauls D. Autism. Lancet 2003; 362: 1133-41.
6	Wereldgezondheidsorganisatie. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders:
	diagnostic criteria for research. Geneve: Wereldgezondheidsorganisatie; 1994.
7	American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.
	Washington DC, Verenigde Staten: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
8	Gillberg C, Wing L. Autism: not an extremely rare disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 99: 399-406.
9	Fombonne E. The prevalence of autism. JAMA 2003; 289: 87-9.

Literature

- Baird G, Charman T, Baron-Cohen S, Cox A, Swettenham J, Wheelwright S *et.al.* A screening instrument for autism at 18 months of age: a 6-year follow- up study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2000; 39: 694-702.
- Chakrabarti S, Fombonne E. Pervasive developmental disorders in preschool children. JAMA 2001; 285: 3093-9.
- Bertrand J, Mars A, Boyle C, Bove F, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Decoufle P. Prevalence of autism in a United States population: the Brick Township, New Jersey, investigation. Pediatrics 2001; 108: 1155-61.
- 13 Yeargin-Allsopp M, Rice C, Karapurkar T, Doernberg N, Boyle C, Murphy C. Prevalence of autism in a US metropolitan area. JAMA 2003; 289: 49-55.
- 14 Fombonne E. Epidemiological surveys of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders: an update. J Autism Dev Disord 2003; 33: 365-82.
- 15 Rutter M. Incidence of autism spectrum disorders: changes over time and their meaning. Acta Paediatr 2005; 94: 2-15.
- 16 Muhle R, Trentacoste SV, Rapin I. The Genetics of Autism. Pediatrics 2004; 113: e472-86.
- 17 Wakefield AJ, Pittilo RM, Sim R, Cosby SL, Stephenson JR, Dhillon AP *et.al.* Evidence of persistent measles virus infection in Crohn's disease. J Med Virol 1993; 39: 345-53.
- 18 Wakefield AJ, Sim R, Akbar AN, Pounder RE, Dhillon AP. In situ immune responses in Crohn's disease: a comparison with acute and persistent measles virus infection. J Med Virol 1997; 51: 90-100.
- 19 Chen RT, DeStefano F. Vaccine adverse events: causal or coincidental? Lancet 1998; 351: 611-2.
- 20 Iizuka M, Nakagomi O, Chiba M, Ueda S, Masamune O. Absence of measles virus in Crohn's disease. Lancet 1995; 345: 199.
- 21 Haga Y, Funakoshi O, Kuroe K, Kanazawa K, Nakajima H, Saito H *et.al.* Absence of measles viral genomic sequence in intestinal tissues from Crohn's disease by nested polymerase chain reaction. Gut 1996; 38: 211-5.
- 22 Afzal MA, Minor PD, Begley J, Bentley ML, Armitage E, Ghosh S *et.al.* Absence of measles-virus genome in inflammatory bowel disease. Lancet 1998; 351: 646-7.
- 23 Afzal MA, Ozoemena LC, O'Hare A, Kidger KA, Bentley ML, Minor PD. Absence of detectable measles virus genome sequence in blood of autistic children who have had their MMR vaccination during the routine childhood immunization schedule of UK. J Med Virol 2006; 78: 623-30.
- 24 D'Souza Y, Fombonne E, Ward BJ. No evidence of persisting measles virus in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from children with autism spectrum disorder. Pediatrics 2006; 118: 1664-75.
- Feeney M, Ciegg A, Winwood P, Snook J. A case-control study of measles vaccination and inflammatory bowel disease. The East Dorset Gastroenterology Group. Lancet 1997; 350: 764-6.
- 26 Metcalf J. Is measles infection associated with Crohn's disease? BMJ 1998; 316: 166.
- 27 Wilson K, Mills E, Ross C, McGowan J, Jadad A. Association of autistic spectrum disorder and the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: a systematic review of current epidemiological evidence. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2003; 157: 628-34.

- 28 Madsen KM, Hviid A, Vestergaard M, Schendel D, Wohlfahrt J, Thorsen P et.al. A population-based study of measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination and autism. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 1477-82.
- 29 Singleton JA, Lloyd JC, Mootrey GT, Salive ME, Chen RT. An overview of the vaccine adverse event reporting system (VAERS) as a surveillance system. VAERS Working Group. Vaccine 1999; 17: 2908-17.
- 30 Immunization Safety Review Committee. Immunization Safety Review. Measles-Mumps-Rubella vaccine and autism. Washington, D.C. Verenigde Staten: National Academy press; 2001.
- Ellenberg SS, Chen RT. The complicated task of monitoring vaccine safety. Public Health Rep 1997;
 112: 10-20.
- 32 Working party on MMR Vaccine. Report of the working party on MMR Vaccine. Medicines Control Agency; 1999.
- 33 Patja A, Davidkin I, Kurki T, Kallio MJ, Valle M, Peltola H. Serious adverse events after measlesmumps-rubella vaccination during a fourteen-year prospective follow-up. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2000; 19: 1127-34.
- 34 Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number III - Reports in 1996 and 1997. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2000: V/000001/003.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number IV Reports in 1998.
 Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2000: V/00001/004.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number VI Reports in 1999.
 Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2001: 000001 005.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number VII Reports in 2000.
 Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2002: 000001006/2002.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number VIII Reports in 2001.
 Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2003: 000001007/2003.
- 39 Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Van der Maas NAT, Wesselo C, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number IX -Reports in 2002. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2004: 000001009/2004.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Dzaferagic A, Maas van der NAT, Wesselo C, Phaff TAJ. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number X -Reports in 2003. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2005: 240071001/2004.
- Vermeer-de Bondt PE, Dzaferagic A, Phaff TAJ, Wesselo C, Maas van der NAT. Adverse events following immunisation under the national vaccination programme of the Netherlands. Number XI Reports in 2004. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2005: 240071002/2005.

- 42 Dales L, Hammer SJ, Smith NJ. Time trends in autism and in MMR immunization coverage in California. JAMA 2001; 285: 1183-5.
- 43 Kaye JA, Mar Melero-Montes M, Jick H. Mumps, measles, and rubella vaccine and the incidence of autism recorded by general practitioners: a time trend analysis. BMJ 2001; 322: 460-3.
- 44 Smeeth L, Cook C, Fombonne E, Heavey L, Rodrigues LC, Smith PG *et.al.* MMR vaccination and pervasive developmental disorders: a case-control study. Lancet 2004; 364: 963-9.
- 45 Taylor B, Miller E, Farrington CP, Petropoulos MC, Favot-Mayaud I, Li J *et.al.* Autism and measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: no epidemiological evidence for a causal association. Lancet 1999; 353: 2026-9.
- 46 Chen W, Landau S, Sham P, Fombonne E. No evidence for links between autism, MMR and measles virus. Psychol Med 2004; 34: 543-53.
- 47 Honda H, Shimizu Y, Rutter M. No effect of MMR withdrawal on the incidence of autism: a total population study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2005; 46: 572-9.
- 48 Fombonne E, Chakrabarti S. No evidence for a new variant of measles-mumps-rubella-induced autism. Pediatrics 2001; 108: E58.
- Makela A, Nuorti JP, Peltola H. Neurologic disorders after measles-mumps-rubella vaccination.
 Pediatrics 2002; 110: 957-63.
- 50 DeStefano F, Chen RT. Negative association between MMR and autism. Lancet 1999; 353: 1987-8.
- 51 Wakefield AJ. MMR vaccination and autism. Lancet 1999; 354: 949-50.
- 52 Roger JH. The MMR question. Lancet 2000; 356: 160-1.
- Taylor B, Miller E, Farrington P. MMR vaccination and autism. Authors' reply. Lancet 2000; 354:
 950.
- 54 Taylor B, Miller E, Farrington CP. Response to the MMR question. Lancet 2000; 356: 1273.
- 55 Farrington CP, Miller E, Taylor B. MMR and autism: further evidence against a causal association. Vaccine 2001; 19: 3632-5.
- 56 DeWilde S, Carey IM, Richards N, Hilton SR, Cook DG. Do children who become autistic consult more often after MMR vaccination? Br J Gen Pract 2001; 51: 226-7.
- 57 Peltola H, Patja A, Leinikki P, Valle M, Davidkin I, Paunio M. No evidence for measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine-associated inflammatory bowel disease or autism in a 14-year prospective study. Lancet 1998; 351: 1327-8.
- 58 Taylor B, Miller E, Lingam R, Andrews N, Simmons A, Stowe J. Measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination and bowel problems or developmental regression in children with autism: population study. BMJ 2002; 324: 393-6.
- 59 Black C, Kaye JA, Jick H. Relation of childhood gastrointestinal disorders to autism: nested casecontrol study using data from the UK General Practice Research Database. BMJ 2002; 325: 419-21.
- 60 Murch SH, Anthony A, Casson DH, Malik M, Berelowitz M, Dhillon AP *et.al*. Retraction of an interpretation. Lancet 2004; 363: 750.
- 61 Horton R. A statement by the editors of The Lancet. Lancet 2004; 363: 820-1.
- 62 Murch SH. A statement by Dr Simon Murch. Lancet 2004; 363: 821-2.

- 63 Walker-Smith JA. A statement by Professor John walker-Smith. Lancet 2004; 363: 822-3.
- 64 Wereldgezondheidsorganisatie. Vaccines, immunization and biologicals. Wereldgezondheidsorganisatie. http://www.who.int/vaccines/en/measles.shtml
- Immunization Safety Review Committee. Immunization Safety Review: vaccines and autism.
 Washington, D.C. Verenigde Staten: National Academy Press; 2004.
- Abbink F, Oomen PJ, Zwakhals SLN, de Melker HE, Ambler-Huiskes A. Vaccinatietoestand
 Nederland per 1 januari 2005. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu; 2006:
 210021005/2006.
- 67 Van den Hof S, van den Kerkhof JH, ten Ham PB, van Binnendijk RS, Conyn-van Spaendonck MA, van Steenbergen JE. Mazelenepidemie in Nederland, 1999-2000. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 2001; 145: 2529-33.
- Van der Veen Y, Hahné S, Ruijs H, Timen A, van Binnendijk R, Van Loon T *et.al*. Rubella-epidemie
 2004-2005: surveillance van congenitale gevolgen. Infectieziekten Bulletin 2006; 19: 322-5.
- Kulenkampff M, Schwartzman JS, Wilson J. Neurological complications of pertussis inoculation.
 Arch Dis Child 1974; 49: 46-9.
- 70 Gangarosa EJ, Galazka AM, Wolfe CR, Phillips LM, Gangarosa RE, Miller E *et.al.* Impact of antivaccine movements on pertussis control: the untold story. Lancet 1998; 351: 356-61.
- 71 Jansen VA, Stollenwerk N, Jensen HJ, Ramsay ME, Edmunds WJ, Rhodes CJ. Measles outbreaks in a population with declining vaccine uptake. Science 2003; 301: 804.
- 72 Noble KK, Miyasaka K. Measles, mumps, and rubella vaccination and autism. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 951-4.

A The Committee

Annex

A The Committee

Annex

•	Prof. A.C.B. Peters, chairperson
	Professor of Paediatric Neurology; University Medical Centre, Utrecht
•	A. Ambler, advisor till 1 December 2005
	Inspectie voor de Gezondheidszorg (Dutch Health Inspectorate)
•	Dr S.G. van Duinen
	Neuropathologist; Leiden University Medical Center
•	Dr E.J.P. Lommen
	Paedriatrician; Waalre
•	Dr R.H.B. Meyboom
	Physician; Stichting Landelijke Registratie Evaluatie Bijwerkingen (Founda-
	tion for National Registration and Evaluation of Side effects), Den Bosch;
	Uppsala monitoring centre, Uppsala, Sweden
•	Dr H.C. Rümke
	Director of Clinical Research, Vaxinostics; Vaccine Centre of Erasmus Uni-
	versity Rotterdam
•	Dr H.P. Verbrugge
	Paedriatrician; Santpoort
•	P.E. Vermeer-de Bondt, advisor
	Public Health Physician; National Institute for Public Health and the Envi-
	ronment (RIVM), Bilthoven
•	Dr P.M.E. Wertheim-van Dillen
	Clinical virologist; Nigtevecht

The Committee

• Dr K. Groeneveld, *scientific secretary* Health Council of the Netherands, The Hague

Expert consultant:

Prof. J.K. Buitelaar
 Psychiatrist; University Medical Centre St Radboud, Nijmegen

The Health Council and interests

Members of Health Council Committees are appointed in a personal capacity because of their special expertise in the matters to be addressed. Nonetheless, it is precisely because of this expertise that they may also have interests. This in itself does not necessarily present an obstacle for membership of a Health Council Committee. Transparency regarding possible conflicts of interest is nonetheless important, both for the President and members of a Committee and for the President of the Health Council. On being invited to join a Committee, members are asked to submit a form detailing the functions they hold and any other material and immaterial interests which could be relevant for the Committee's work. It is the responsibility of the President of the Health Council to assess whether the interests indicated constitute grounds for non-appointment. An advisorship will then sometimes make it possible to exploit the expertise of the specialist involved. During the inaugural meeting the declarations issued are discussed, so that all members of the Committee are aware of each other's possible interests.

34

The Committee